No. 44142-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/P

v.

MELVIN ALBERT KIMBREL,

Appellant/Defendant.

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Wm. Michael Hanbey Attorney for Appellant WSBA # 7829

PO Box 2575 Olympia, WA 98507 360-570-1636

ORIGINAL

#

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### A. Assignments of Error

Defendant assigns as error the following conclusions of law:

- 1. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law I, ordering that the facts indicate the defendant was properly advised of his rights by the Court prior to entry of his Alford plea pursuant to CrR 4.2(d). [CP 133]
- 2. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law II, ordering that the Alford Plea was properly reviewed by the Court prior to the entry of the plea. [CP 133]
- 3. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law III, ordering that the facts establish the Change of Plea was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily and comported with the defendant's due process rights. [CP 133]

### B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

The above conclusions of law are erroneous for the following

# reasons:

- 1. The Court did not establish for the record that the Defendant had reviewed and signed each Change of Plea form, was cognizant of its contents and had been advised by his attorney of the nature and extent of the waivers, conditions and consequences of entering an Alford plea to each charge. [Assignment of Error No. 1.]
- 2. The Court abused its discretion by finding in a change of plea circumstance that Defendant had been properly informed of the consequences of entry of an Alford plea, including waiver of his right of appeal arising from a conviction. [Assignment of Error No. 2.]

3. The Court did not establish for the record that the Defendant had voluntarily and knowingly waived his right of appeal in violation of his constitutional rights. [Assignment of Error No. 3.]

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant, Melvin Alvin Kimbrel, was charged with two felonies in separate counts before the Thurston County Superior Court. In Cause No. 10-1-00610-2, the Defendant was charged with two counts of Assault 2°, DV. [CP 6] The second felony was in Cause No. 11-1-00050-1 where the Defendant was charged with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm 2°. [CP 141]

Defendant entered an Alford plea to each felony on 16 February 2011. [CP 8/142] This appeal arises from the procedure employed to receive the changes of plea which violated the constitutional rights of Mr. Kimbrel and constituted a manifest injustice. He is seeking the opportunity to withdraw his pleas.

Hearings on the change of plea came before The Honorable Gary S. Tabor, Judge. The first hearing was scheduled for a change of plea on 14 February 2011. The hearing began with the entry of an Amended Information altering the original charge in the assault matter to one count of Assault 2°. The attorney for Defendant, H. Gary Wallis, advised the

Court that he had reviewed the Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty and that Defendant wished for the Court to accept the plea. [RP 41-42]

#### A. First Hearing

A colloquy began between the Court and Mr. Wallis. The Court ascertained that Defendant intended to enter a plea of guilty on both charges. [RP 42] Defendant acknowledged the class of felony including the maximum penalty and fine. [RP 42] When the Court advised Defendant that the Assault 2° was a strike offense, the Defendant acknowledged he did initial the change of plea document. [RP 43] The Court then advised Defendant of the scope of the strike law. [RP 43] Judge Tabor noted that Defendant had no prior criminal history which meant this would be his first strike offense. He sought whether the Defendant understood the impact of the strike.

The Defendant then commented: "Yeah, but you're taking away, waiving all my rights, and I've never had a chance to prove I'm not guilty." [RP 43] The Court immediately responded: "Okay. It sounds like probably you don't want to plead guilty here today then." [RP 44] There followed discussion between the attorney and Defendant, then Mr. Wallis informed the Court: "We will go to trial, Your Honor."[sic] The hearing was concluded for the day. [RP 44]

## B. Second Hearing

Two days later, on 16 February 2011, the matters were called again before Judge Tabor. On that day, the Court noted: "I recall we started a proceeding in this matter the other day. We did not complete that, but are we ready to proceed again?" [RP 45] The Court inquired of Defendant whether he had had a chance to speak about the strike issue with his attorney. Defendant acknowledged that he had. [RP 46]

The Court then identified the sentencing ranges and the recommendation by the State reflected at paragraph 6(g) on page 4 of the pleading for the Assault 2° charge. [RP 46-47] Defendant acknowledged that plea offer. The Court then inquired whether the Defendant was aware that the court did not have to follow the recommendation. Defendant answered in the affirmative. [RP 47] Then, the Court reviewed the recommendation from paragraph 6(g) on page four of the pleading for the Unlawful Possession of a Firearm 2°. Defendant acknowledged the plea offer. [RP 47-48]

An issue developed concerning whether separate costs or fees must be imposed with each separate cause of action and whether the DNA fee needed to be imposed for both causes. [RP 48] Defendant acknowledged the information provided by the Court when the Court summarized the combined total of fees from each cause. [RP 49] Again, the Court asked

the Defendant if he knew that the court did not have to follow the recommendation of the State. Defendant confirmed that was known to him. [RP 49]

## C. Alford Pleas

Then the Court reviewed paragraph 11 of each Change of Plea form, where it was stated what Defendant did to "...make you guilty of these offenses...." [RP 49-50] Judge Tabor then cited for the record the statement of the Defendant: "I do not believe I am guilty. However, there is a substantial likelihood that a jury will find me guilty. The reason I would like to take advantage of the prosecutor's offer." The Court then corrected his citation: "I believe it says 'therefore' rather than 'the reason.'" "Therefore, I wish to take advantage of the prosecutor's offer." [RP 50]

Judge Tabor noted: "That appears to be an Alford Plea. Have you talked with your attorney about the meaning of an Alford Plea?" Defendant responded affirmatively and that he knew the meaning of it. [RP 50] The Court then entered into a description of an Alford plea and noted that an Alford plea required the Court to review the statement of probable cause "...to determine whether or not there are sufficient facts

had the matter gone to trial, for the trier of fact to find guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." [RP 50-52]

The Court then reviewed the separate probable cause statements and determined that there was a sufficient factual basis in each cause for a trier of fact to find guilt. [RP 51] He then specifically inquired of the Defendant: "[A]re you making your Alford pleas to these two charges freely and voluntarily?" The Defendant responded: "Yes, Your Honor." [RP 51]

Thereafter, the Court held that Mr. Kimbrel had made a free and voluntary Alford plea to each cause and that he had had the assistance of counsel. Since the parties wished to proceed to disposition, the Court advised Defendant he would proceed to sentencing and inquired of Defendant: "Mr. Kimbrel, in every case when a person is to be sentenced they have the right to speak to the Court. Is there anything you would like to say before I impose sentence?" [RP 52] The Defendant responded: "Just when the accident happened...it was an accident." [RP 52-53]

The Court interrupted and stated: "You have nevertheless acknowledge that there are facts that the Court could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt to assault in the second degree." [RP 53] The Defendant responded: "Yes, Your Honor." [RP 53]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Judge Tabor then gained approval from both legal counsel that the probable cause statement was appropriate in each case for him to consider.

The Court proceeded to sentencing on each of the causes of action following the recommendation set forth in the Change of Plea forms for each cause. [RP 4-55] However, the Court did not mention the requirement for community custody prior to disposition of the pleas.

On the 15<sup>th</sup> of February 2012, less than one year after the Judgment and Sentence was entered on each cause, a Motion to Set Aside and Withdraw Plea was filed in Thurston County Superior Court. [CP 31-38] The contentions of Defendant were that:

- a) The Defendant was not properly advised of his right to appeal by his attorney prior to or at the time of the entry of his Alford Plea pursuant to CrR 4.2(d);
- b) The Alford Plea of Defendant was not properly reviewed by the Court prior to the entry of the plea; and
- c) The Change of Plea was not entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily in violation of the due process rights of the Defendant.

A hearing was set before The Honorable Gary S. Tabor for consideration of the Motion on 17 April 2012. At the hearing, the Court acknowledged it had not been informed there would be oral argument, did not have a record of proceedings of the 14th and 16<sup>th</sup> of February 2011 and had not reviewed the submissions of the parties. The matter was continued until the 10<sup>th</sup> of May 2012 with the option for the parties to submit supplemental briefs or argument. [CP 71-75/76-128] The Court heard argument on the legal issues presented by the Motion on the 10<sup>th</sup> of

May 2012. At the conclusion of oral argument, the Court issued an Oral decision which denied the Motion to Set Aside and Withdrawal of Plea. [RP 12-16]

The parties attempted to reach agreement on proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, but were unable to do so. The matter was reset for hearing on 27th of September 2012 for the Court to consider competing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Prior to the date of the hearing the parties agreed that, in lieu of oral argument on the proposed and competing Findings and Conclusions, a letter would be sent to Judge Tabor advising him that each party agreed he could review and enter the pleading which he thought most appropriately reflected his oral decision. The hearing was continued on the 27<sup>th</sup> of September 2012 due to a conflict. Thereafter, a joint letter from legal counsel was forwarded to Judge Tabor stating agreement that he could review the submissions in chambers and then enter Findings and Conclusions that he thought reflected his determination. Judge Tabor took the matter under advisement and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order on 11 October 2012. [CP 130-34]

Defendant herein, through counsel, filed notices of appeal on 13 October 2012. Defendant now presents that appeal. [CP 135-40/167-72]

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Defendant contends that the change of plea procedure was constitutionally flawed and that manifest injustice occurred when he was subjected to a determination of guilt for each charge and sentenced.

Specifically, the Defendant was not fully advised by his legal counsel of the scope and consequences of the Alford plea submitted to the Court. Further, the Court failed to actually ascertain whether the Defendant was entering a voluntary, knowing and intelligent plea to each charge. The Court failed to advise the Defendant of the direct consequences of his entry of a plea when it failed to advise the Defendant of the community custody component of the sentence of each charge.

The Court failed to ascertain from the Defendant that he had reviewed the Statement of Change of Pleas with his legal counsel and whether that legal counsel had answered any questions he may have. The Court failed to recognize that the prosecutor representing the state did not execute either Statement of Change of Plea confirming the plea bargain offer. The Court failed to recognize that legal counsel for the Defendant had failed to execute the Statement of Change of Plea form for the Assault 2° charge.

When the Court discussed the statement of the Defendant wherein an *Alford* plea was indicated, and the Defendant indicated the "assault" was an accident, the Court reinforced the purpose of the *Alford* plea instead of inquiring of the Defendant if he was freely making the plea with the knowledge that he would be losing his right of appeal upon a plea.

These errors fail to support the conclusions of law reached by the Court and denied the Defendant the right to have his pleas set aside and withdrawn in each charge.

#### IV. ARGUMENT OF COUNSEL

# A. Judge Tabor Erred In Holding That Defendant Had Fully Known And Understood The Consequence Of The Alford Pleas That He Entered

A defendant may waive his or her right of appeal whether it is from conviction or a plea of guilty<sup>2</sup> so long as the waiver is done intelligently, voluntarily and with the understanding of the consequences. *State v. Perkins*, 108 Wn.2d 212, 215, 727 P.2d 250 (1987). The State of Washington also recognizes a strong public interest in enforcing the terms of plea agreements voluntarily entered into by the parties. *State v. Tourtellotte*, 88 Wn.2d 479, 582-85, 564 P.2d 799 (1977). Where a defendant failed to file a notice of appeal "...after being read his appeal rights from the sentencing rule (CrR 7.1(b), now CrR 7.2(b)), and replied,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Conviction includes a plea of guilty as well as a finding or verdict of guilty following a trial. *State v. Burnett*, 144 Wash. 598, 602-03, 258 P. 484 (1927).

'Yes, I understand..." the high court denied a personal restraint petition in *In Re Hanson*, 94 Wn.2d 798, 620 P.2d 95 (1980).

Since 1889, the Washington State Constitution has guaranteed a defendant in a criminal prosecution "...the right to appeal in all cases." Const. art. I, § 22 (amend. X). Appeal is thus not a "privilege", but is a constitutional right. *State v. Schoel*, 54 Wn.2d 388, 341 P.2d 481 (1959).

The basic standard for determining validity of an *Alford* plea is whether it "represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant." *In re Personal Restraint of Montoya*, 109 Wn.2d 270, 280, 744 P.2d 340 (1987) (*quoting Alford*, 400 U.S. at 31, 91 S.Ct. 160). Under *Alford*, a defendant may plead guilty without admitting guilt, as long as there is a factual basis to believe he committed the charged crime. *Montoya*, *supra*. A factual basis exists if there is sufficient evidence from which a jury could conclude the defendant is guilty. *State v. Newton*, 87 Wn.2d 363, 370, 522 P.2d 682 (1976).

CrR 4.2(d) provides:

**Voluntariness.** The court shall not accept a plea of guilty, without first determining that it is made voluntarily, competently and with an understanding of the nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea. The court shall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>State v. Smith, 134 Wn.2d 849, 852, 953 P.2d 810 (1998) (when defendant has read and signed a plea statement, it creates a strong presumption that the plea is voluntary).

not enter a judgment upon a plea of guilty unless it is satisfied that there is a factual basis for the plea.

Here, the Court did not inquire of the Defendant if he had read the Change of Plea forms. [CP 39-57] The Court did not inquire of the Defendant if he had discussed the Change of Plea forms with his attorney (other than the inquiry concerning the nature of a "strike offense").<sup>4</sup> [RP 46] The Court did not determine on the record that the Defendant had signed the Change of plea forms. The Court did inquire whether the Defendant was aware of the recommendation of the State concerning potential sentencing upon plea of guilty.<sup>5</sup> [RP 47]

The Court did not inquire whether the Defendant had signed the Change of Plea forms voluntarily and whether he understood the nature of the charges or the full consequences of the pleas. [CP 39-57]

The colloquy between the Court and Defendant evinces that there was confusion on the part of the Defendant when he addressed the intentional element of the offense(s) by stating that it was an "accident".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Defendant's attorney did not execute the Change of Plea form, on page 9, to attest that he had discussed the statement with the Defendant and that the Defendant was competent and understood the statement; nor, did the Court inquire of the Defendant's attorney whether he had discussed the statement with his client or whether he was competent and understood the statement. It is true that on the 14<sup>th</sup> Defendant's attorney asserted he had "gone over the statement" and that the Defendant "understood" the statement and consequences. But, subsequent colloquy with the court demonstrated that was not correct. [RP 41-42]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> However, the Court did not advise the Defendant that there was a requirement for community custody for one year when the standard sentencing range was addressed. That requirement was not included in the text of the written plea offer set forth in Paragraph 6(g) on each form. *See* Section B, below.

[RP 52-53] A defendant's signature on a plea statement is strong evidence of a plea's voluntariness, and a judge's on-record inquiry of a defendant who signs a plea bargain strengthens the inference of voluntariness. *State v. Branch*, 129 Wn.2d 635, 642, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996). In *Branch*, the high court found that although the defendant had not signed the change of plea form, the questions from the State, the court and the affirmation from defendant's attorney constituted sufficient basis to determine that the plea was voluntary, knowing and intelligent. Here, the Court did not fully inquire, the Defendant's attorney did not execute the form, [CP 17] and between the time the Defendant's attorney spoke on the 14<sup>th</sup> of February and the time the Court entered the Alford pleas and found Defendant guilty, there were questions raised about the consequences of the pleas (the strike offense issue) and whether the conduct of the Defendant met the elements of the offense (the accidental nature of his conduct).

A court determines voluntariness on the basis of the totality of the circumstances. *Branch*, at 642. The totality of the circumstances reflected in the record of proceedings, when combined with the documents used to accomplish the procedure of entering a plea agreement in the Court demonstrate that there was error on the part of the Court to conclude that the Defendant had been properly advised of his rights under CrR 4.2, including his right of appeal. The record does not demonstrate that the

strong presumption of voluntariness arising from the signature of the Defendant on the forms requiring a voluntary, intelligent and knowing waiver of those rights existed. The Defendant did acknowledge that with the *Alford* plea there was a substantial likelihood that a jury would find guilt. [RP 50] But the Defendant's comments about the "accident" belie that affirmation. [RP 52-53]

Failure to comply fully with CrR 4.2 requires that the Defendant's guilty plea be set aside and his case remanded so that he may plea anew. *Wood v. Morris*, 87 Wash. 501, 511, 554 P.2d 1032 (1976). The Defendant's plea is invalid if "...the record does not affirmatively show that [the defendant] understood the law in relation to the facts or entered the plea intelligently and voluntarily." *State v. S. M.*, 100 Wn. App. 401, 414, 996 P.2d 1111 (2000).

# B. Judge Tabor Erred In Concluding That The Alford Pleas Were Properly Reviewed By The Court Prior To The Entry Of The Pleas

The change of plea forms include the waiver of certain rights held by the defendant prior to entry of a plea or conviction. A waiver is an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege and must be knowing, intelligent and voluntary. *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 286, 581 P.2d 579 (1978). The appellate court reviews legal conclusion *de novo* to determine whether the findings of fact support the

legal conclusions. *Hardee v. Department of Social and Health Services*, 152 Wn.2d 48, 55, 215 P.3d 214 (2009).

The forms used for the Change of Pleas Statements were different forms. The form used for Cause No. 10-1-00610-2 was published in 8/2010. [CP 9] The form used for Cause No. 11-1-00050-1 was published in 7/2007. [CP 143] They differ in paragraph 6(f) in the description of "For crimes committed on or after July 1, 2000". The later form for Cause 10-2-00610-2 indicates that:

[T]he Judge <u>may</u> order me to serve up to one year of community custody if the total period of confinement order is not more than 12 months, but only if the crime I have been convicted of falls into one of the offense types listed in the following chart.

#### (Emphasis added.) [CP 145]

The chart indicates that a period of community custody of 12 months would apply to crimes against persons as defined in RCW 9.94A.411(2), which lists, *inter alia*, Assault 2°. [CP 146] However, the plea recommendation does not state that there would be an imposition of community custody.<sup>6</sup> [CP 146] Nor did the Court advise the Defendant that the Court would impose community custody<sup>7</sup> when the Court

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