IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MELVIN ALBERT KIMBREL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Gary R. Tabor, Judge Cause Nos. 10-1-00610-2; 11-1-00050-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. Whether Kimbrel's pleas of guilty were entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The State accepts the appellant's statement of the case.

C. ARGUMENT.

The record shows that Kimbrel entered valid guilty pleas that were knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying his motion to withdraw those pleas.

1. The record indicates that Kimbrel understood the consequence of entering an <u>Alford</u>¹ plea.

Kimbrel asserts that the trial court incorrectly found that he understood the consequences of the <u>Alford</u> pleas. The fact that these pleas were entered pursuant to <u>North Carolina v. Alford</u> is not critical to his arguments; the same constitutional requirements apply to all pleas of guilty.

The right to plead guilty exists by court rule; it is not constitutional in nature. State v. Hubbard, 106 Wn. App. 149, 153, 22 P.3d 296 (2001); CrR 4.2(a). CrR 4.2 provides the procedures for the entry of guilty pleas. In particular, CrR 4.2(d) requires that the court make certain determinations:

¹ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970)

(d) Voluntariness. The court shall not accept a plea of guilty, without first determining that it is made voluntarily, competently and with an understanding of the nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea. The court shall not enter a judgment upon a plea of guilty unless it is satisfied that there is a factual basis for the plea.

Motions to withdraw guilty pleas are governed by CrR 4.2(f) and CrR 7.8.

CrR 4.2(f) Withdrawal of Plea. The court shall allow a defendant to withdraw the defendant's plea of guilty whenever it appears that the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. If the defendant pleads guilty pursuant to a plea agreement and the court determines under RCW 9.94A.090 that the agreement is not consistent with (1) the interests of justice or (2) the prosecuting standards set forth in RCW 9.94A.430-.460, the court shall inform the defendant that the guilty plea may be withdrawn and a plea of not guilty entered. If the motion for withdrawal is made after judgment, it shall be governed by CrR 7.8.

CrR 7.8(b) Mistakes; Inadvertence; Excusable Neglect; Newly Discovered Evidence; Fraud; etc. On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons:

- (1) Mistakes, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order:
- (2) Newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under rule 7.5;
- (3) Fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party;
 - (4) The judgment is void; or

(5) Any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

A trial court's denial of a defense motion to withdraw a guilty plea is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Zhao</u>, 157 Wn.2d 188, 197, 137 P.3d 835 (2006).

The State bears the burden of proving the validity of the quilty plea, but the defendant bears the burden of proving manifest "'[M]anifest injustice' is defined as 'an injustice that is injustice. obvious, directly observable, overt, not obscure." State v. Knotek, 136 Wn. App. 412 423, 149 P.3d 676 (2006), (cites omitted). Referring to CrR 4.2(f), Washington courts have said that "There are four possible indicia of 'manifest injustice': (1) the denial of effective counsel, (2) the pleas was not ratified by the defendant or one authorized by him to do so, (3) the plea was involuntary, or (4) the plea agreement was not kept by the prosecution." State v. McCollum, 88 Wn. App. 977, 981, 947 P.2d 1235 (1997) (citing to State v. Taylor, 83 Wn.2d 594, 597, 521 P.2d 699 (1974)). A person pleading guilty waives the right to claim constitutional violations except those related to either the circumstances of the plea or the power of the government to prosecute. In re the Pers. Restraint of Reise, 146 Wn. App. 772, 782, 192 P.3d 949 (2008).

To satisfy the due process requirement of the Fourth Amendment, a guilty plea must be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. In re the Pers. Restraint of Montoya, 109 Wn.2d 270, 277, 744 P.2d 340 (1987). A defendant may knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily plead guilty to a crime, even though he maintains he is not guilty, provided that there is strong evidence to support the plea and the defendant concludes it is in his best interest to plead guilty. Alford, 400 U.S. at 37; Hubbard, 106 Wn. App. at 155, fn 5.

Alford pleas should be examined to determine whether the defendant has made an intelligent and voluntary choice between his or her alternative courses of action. . . . [T]he court must be assured that the guilty plea is voluntary.

Hubbard, 106 Wn. App. at 156.

Kimbrel argues that he showed confusion about the plea when he said that the assault was an accident. Appellant's Opening Brief at 12-13. But an Alford plea by definition means that the defendant does not admit guilt. Kimbrel could maintain that he lacked the requisite intent for the crime while still pleading guilty. He must have understood that intent was an element of the crime or he would not have explained that he did not have that intent, i.e., it was an accident. 02/16/11 RP 14-15. In fact, the declaration

Kimbrel filed in support of his motion to withdraw his plea shows that he discussed with his attorney the fact that he did not intentionally injure his wife, and his attorney explained that he could accept the plea offer without admitting intent. CP 28.

The record shows that the court discussed the nature of the Alford plea with Kimbrel. After Kimbrel told the court he knew the meaning of an Alford plea, the following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: An *Alford* plea allows you to not admit the elements of an offense, nevertheless to plead guilty in order to take advantage of a plea offer or charging decision that you feel is appropriate by the State. However, if I do find you guilty—I should say if I do accept the *Alford* plea, I would find you guilty just as though you had pled guilty or been convicted by a jury. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: An Alford plea requires that the Court review the statement of probable cause to determine whether or not there are sufficient facts, had the matter gone to trial, for a trier of fact to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Do the parties agree that the probable cause declaration in each case is appropriate for me to consider?

Both attorneys responded in the affirmative. 02/16/11 RP 12-13. Kimbrel then affirmed that he was making free and voluntary Alford pleas and the court accepted them. 02/16/11 RP 13-14. Kimbrel acknowledged that even though he was claiming

the assault was an accident, he understood that there were sufficient facts to permit a court to find him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. 02/16/11 RP 15. In essence, Kimbrel acknowledged that even though he denied having the intent to assault, a judge or jury would likely find that he did. He cites to Wood v. Morris, 87 Wn.2d 510, 554 P.2d 1032 (1976), for the proposition that the trial court must "fully comply" with CrR 4.2 or the plea is invalid. Appellant's Opening Brief at 14. compliance," however, consists of making a record that the plea was entered voluntarily and intelligently. Wood, 87 Wn.2d at 511. A plea can be made voluntarily and intelligently, even if the prosecutor did not sign the plea agreement or if the defendant maintains he is not guilty of the crime to which he is pleading. Although Kimbrel finds significant the failure of his attorney to sign the plea form for the second degree assault, Appellant's Opening Brief at 13, CP 17, it is not clear how the defense attorney's signature impacts the voluntariness of the plea. Kimbrel did sign the form, CP 16, and it is with the defendant that the court is concerned. The attorney's attestation only says that he has read and discussed the statement with the defendant and believes that the defendant is both competent and understands the statement.

CP 17. Defense counsel told the court that very thing at the first hearing. 02/14/11 RP 3-4.

[The trial judge is not required to question the defendant before accepting the plea; a written plea statement is sufficient. . . . This court has previously stated that a signed guilty plea form is prima facie evidence of voluntariness. . . . Only if the plea form is itself deficient must the State offer other evidence to counter the assertion. . . . "The best evidence is that the defendant was expressly advised of [his] right, either orally by the trial judge at the plea hearing, or by reading a plea form explaining the right." . . .

<u>State v. Lujan</u>, 38 Wn. App. 735, 737, 688 P.2d 548 (1984) (internal cites omitted).

The record does not support a conclusion that Kimbrel did not understand the nature of an <u>Alford</u> plea. The court explained it to him and he acknowledged that he understood it.

2. Kimbrel was advised that he would lose the right to appeal a finding of guilt.

Kimbrel argues that he was never advised that by pleading guilty he was giving up the right to appeal the finding of guilt. Appellant's Opening Brief at 16, 22. It is true that the court did not orally advise him of that waiver, but he was advised in the plea forms he signed for both offenses. In the forms for both the second degree assault and second degree unlawful possession of a firearm, Section 5 begins with the heading, "I Understand I Have

the Following Important Rights, and I Give Them Up by Pleading Guilty." CP 9-10, 144. The final right in that list, labeled (f) in both cases, is "The right to appeal a finding of guilt after trial." CP 10, 144. Kimbrel signed both of those forms. CP 16, 151. In his declaration in support of his motion to withdraw his pleas, he asserted that although he signed the form he did not read it carefully. CP 28.

It is an easy thing to claim after the fact that one signed a form one did not read.² The general rule is that whether a defendant knew the consequences of his plea is a fact to be determined from all of the circumstances. State v. Harvey, 5 Wn. App. 719, 724, 491 P.2d 660 (1971) (citing to Miesbauer v. Rhay, 79 Wn.2d 505, 507, 487 P.2d 1046 (1971). Even if the defendant fails to sign the Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty, the totality of the circumstances may still support a finding that he entered his plea intelligently and voluntarily. State v. Branch, 129 Wn.2d 635, 644, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996).

Looking at this record, there is no reason to believe that Kimbrel did not understand the rights he was waiving. He complains that the court never asked him if he had read and signed

² In his declaration in support of his motion to vacate the judgment, Kimbrel asserted that he did read the form. CP 28.

the plea forms. Appellant's Opening Brief at 12. However, as the court pointed out in its ruling, it did not get the chance. 05/10/12 RP 13. Counsel informed the court that he had gone over the forms with Kimbrel and he fully understood the consequences. 02/14/11 RP 3-4. There is no reason for the court to ask a question that had just been answered. It is true that the hearing was interrupted for two days, and on the second day the court essentially considered that it was dealing with a continuation of the original hearing. 02/16/11 RP 7. Two days is not such a long period of time that the parties would have forgotten what was discussed at the first hearing.

In its Findings of Fact, to which Kimbrel has not assigned error, the court included Finding No. 3: "The court relies, in large part, on a very comprehensive change of plea form that has been adopted statewide." CP 163. The form to be used by a defendant pleading guilty is specified in CrR 4.2(g). If the court were required to orally cover every advisement included in that form, the form would be redundant and plea hearings would be very lengthy. Kimbrel appears to be arguing not that the written form is inadequate per se, but was inadequate in his case because he didn't read it. But a court must be able to rely on the assurances of

counsel that the defendant has reviewed a form and understands it, and that the signature of the defendant on the form means the same thing. If the court cannot believe what counsel tells it or depend on the plea form to advise the defendant of his full rights, not only is the entire foundation of our plea system suspect, but it permits a defendant to challenge any ruling at any time. That cannot be constitutionally required.

There is no due process requirement that the trial court orally question a defendant so as to determine his understanding of the consequences of pleading guilty. "The case requires only that courts canvass the matter with the accused to make sure that he or she fully understands what the plea connotes and its consequences." In re the Pers. Restraint of Keene, 95 Wn.2d 203, 207, 622 P.2d 360 (1980) (citing to Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 244, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969)). Here a reading of the entire hearing, plus the guilty plea statement forms, shows that under a totality of the circumstance test, Kimbrel understood the pleas he was entering. He didn't like it, but he understood it.

3. The Statements of Defendant on Plea of Guilty adequately informed Kimbrel of the community custody consequences of a conviction for the offenses.

Kimbrel correctly argues that the trial court did not address the term of community custody that follows a conviction for second degree assault until after sentence had been pronounced but before the judgment and sentence was entered. 02/16/11 RP 17. There was no community custody condition for the unlawful possession of a firearm conviction. CP 156-57, 02/16/11 RP 17.

As with the advisement that he was waiving his right to appeal a finding of guilt, Kimbrel was informed by the guilty plea statement that a term of community custody would follow the incustody portion of his sentence for second degree assault. At the third page of the form, the advisements read, in pertinent part:

For crimes committed on or after July 1, 2000: In addition to sentencing me to confinement, under certain circumstances the judge may order me to serve up to one year of community custody if the total period of confinement ordered is not more than 12 months, but only if the crime I have been convicted of falls into one of the offense types listed in the following chart. . . If the total period of confinement ordered is more than 12 months, and if the crime I have been convicted of falls into one of the offense types listed in the following chart, the court will sentence me to community custody for the term established for that offense type unless the judge finds substantial and compelling reasons not to do so.

. . .

CP 11. Following this advisement is a list of categories of offenses and the terms of community custody that follow when the defendant is sentenced to more than one year in custody. One of the categories in the list is "Crimes Against Persons as defined by RCW 9.94A.411(2); second degree assault is included in that statute. Also on the list is "violent offenses," of which second degree assault is one. RCW 9.94A.030(53)(a)(viii).

On page 2 of the same plea agreement, in section 6, the standard sentencing range is entered as six to twelve months, with "12+" months of community custody. CP 10. At page 4 of the plea form, the prosecutor's recommendation is for six months of confinement.³ CP 12. Kimbrel initialed a paragraph on page 5 of the form which advised him that he was pleading guilty to a most serious, or strike, offense and described the consequences for accumulating three of those convictions.

The court sentenced Kimbrel to six months in custody and 12 months of community custody for the second degree assault. CP 22, 02/16/11 RP 17.

³ The prosecutor's recommendation is followed by a statement that the prosecutor would follow the plea agreement which is incorporated by reference. CP 12. That agreement is not part of the record before this court. It is unclear if it was filed with the trial court.

It is apparent from the form that Kimbrel knew he would not be sentenced to more than one year in custody, and therefore would be facing a maximum of one year of community custody. His attorney told the court he had discussed the plea form with Kimbrel. Kimbrel is not an uneducated man; he has had two years of post-secondary education. CP 9, 143.

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